

Repeal Ph 300, effective 1-29-16 (Document #11031), as follows:

~~CHAPTER Ph 300 LICENSING OF PHARMACISTS AND PHARMACIES~~

~~PART Ph 301 LICENSING OF PHARMACISTS BY EXAMINATION~~

~~—— Ph 301.01 Application.~~

~~—— (a) Application form Ph A-1, revised September 2015, for licensure to practice the profession of pharmacy in New Hampshire may be obtained from the board or the board website accessible at www.nh.gov/pharmacy/;~~

~~—— (b) Applicants for licensure shall submit a completed form A-1 application for licensure and file it at the office of the board identified in Ph 103.03 along with:~~

~~(1) A copy of the candidate's birth certificate;~~

~~(2) A recent, full face photograph of the candidate;~~

~~(3) An official final transcript sent directly from the college to the board office; and~~

~~(4) The prescribed fee which shall be \$265.~~

~~—— (c) An official final transcript shall be mailed directly from the college to the board before either NAPLEX scores or New Hampshire licensure status is released, or, if a foreign graduate, the foreign graduate shall have completed a transcript verification program as provided by the Foreign Pharmacy Graduate Examination Committee (FPGEC) certification.~~

~~—— (d) The photograph required by Ph 301.01 (b)(2) shall be attached to the application form in the presence of a notary public or justice of the peace.~~

~~—— Ph 301.02 Additional Requirements. In addition to any requirements imposed by statute, all candidates for a license to practice pharmacy in New Hampshire shall demonstrate that they possess the following qualifications:~~

~~—— (a) The candidate shall be not less than 18 years of age;~~

~~—— (b) The candidate shall be of good professional character, and not have been convicted of any felony, or of a misdemeanor resulting from a violation of any drug and/or pharmacy related law or rule;~~

~~—— (c) The candidate shall have graduated with a doctor of pharmacy degree (PharmD) granted by a school of pharmacy, or a college of pharmacy, or a department of a pharmacy of a university;~~

~~—— (d) To meet the requirements of (c) above, the school, college or department of pharmacy, shall be accredited by the Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education (ACPE) or the Canadian Council for Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs (CCAPP).~~

~~—— (e) If a foreign graduate, in lieu of (c) and (d) above, the candidate shall have graduated from a foreign college of pharmacy other than Canada and have obtained full certification from the FPGEC including:~~

~~(1) Passing the FPGEE with a score of at least 75; and~~

~~(2) Demonstrating proficiency in english by passing the Test Of English as a Foreign Language Internet Based Test (TOEFL iBT).~~

~~—— (f) Prior to the examination date, the candidate shall:~~

~~(1) Have completed an internship in pharmacy which consists of:~~

~~a. At least 1500 hours, starting no earlier than 4 months prior to the third year of study in a college of pharmacy; and~~

~~b. Work predominantly related to the practice of pharmacy including, but not limited to:~~

~~1. The selling of drugs and medical supplies;~~

~~2. Interpreting, compounding, preparing and dispensing prescription orders;~~

~~3. Preparing pharmaceutical products; and~~

~~4. Keeping records and preparing reports required by federal and state statutes.~~

~~(2) Have completed the internship record form Ph A-3 revised September 2015 and submitted it to the board.~~

~~— (g) The candidate shall complete and pass the examinations described in Ph 301.03.~~

~~— Ph 301.03 Required Examinations. The examinations required for pharmacist licensure in New Hampshire shall be the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy Licensure Examination (NAPLEX) and the New Hampshire Multistate Pharmacy Jurisprudence Examination (NH MPJE) administered the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP).~~

~~— Ph 301.04 Required Examination Score. To successfully complete the NAPLEX and NH MPJE examinations required by Ph 301.03, the candidate shall, on the initial examination or any subsequent re-examination permitted by Ph 301.05, obtain a score of not less than 75 on each examination.~~

~~— Ph 301.05 Notice and Election of Re-examination.~~

~~— (a) Any candidate who fails to obtain the minimum required score on either of the 2 examinations required in Ph 301.03 may elect to retake the examination.~~

~~— (b) All candidates shall notify the board in writing whether he/she elects to be re-examined. The candidate for re-examination shall register and pay for the re-take examination through the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy online registration website accessible at www.nabp.net.~~

~~— Ph 301.06 Issuance or Denial of Original License.~~

~~— (a) If candidate timely files an application, complete in all respects, successfully completes all examinations required by Ph 301 and demonstrates the complete fulfillment of the requirements of these rules, RSA 318, and RSA 318-B, the board shall issue a license to practice pharmacy.~~

~~— (b) In the event a candidate for an original license to practice pharmacy in New Hampshire fails to meet the requirements of these rules, or RSA 318, or both, the board shall deliver to the applicant a written denial of the application, specifying in detail the requirement which the candidate failed to meet, and how the candidate is deficient.~~

~~PART Ph 302 LICENSING OF PHARMACISTS BY RECIPROCITY~~

~~— Ph 302.01 Reciprocity.~~

~~— (a) Instead of retaking the NAPLEX examination required by Ph 301.03, a candidate may transfer the actual score he or she attained on the NAPLEX administered by a state other than New Hampshire, provided that:~~

~~- (1) The candidate is still duly licensed and is in good standing in that state; and~~

~~- (2) All other New Hampshire pharmacist licensing requirements have been met.~~

~~— Ph 302.02 Application.~~

~~— (a) The preliminary application for reciprocal licensure may be obtained from a link provided on the NH board of pharmacy website or from the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy, 1600 Feehanville Drive, Mount Prospect, Illinois, 60056, telephone number (847) 391 4406, website www.nabp.net. This application shall be filed with the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy.~~

~~— (b) Following verification of the applicant's credentials by NABP the applicant shall receive an official NABP license transfer application in the mail.~~

~~— (c) The candidate shall file a completed NABP license transfer application provided by the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy along with NH form Ph A - 1, revised September 2015, application for initial licensure as a pharmacist in NH, and attach the following:~~

~~- (1) A copy of the candidate's birth certificate, or if born outside of the United States, a copy of the certificate of naturalization or passport showing date of birth;~~

~~- (2) A recent, full face photograph of the candidate attached to the application;~~

~~- (3) An official copy of the candidate's pharmacy college transcript mailed directly from the college to the board, or if a foreign graduate, certification from the FPGEC; and~~

~~- (4) The application fee of \$265.~~

~~— Ph 302.03 Requirements. In addition to any requirements imposed by statute, all candidates for licensure by reciprocity to practice pharmacy in New Hampshire shall demonstrate that they possess the following qualifications:~~

~~— (a) The candidate shall be not less than 18 years of age;~~

~~— (b) The candidate shall be of good professional character as evidenced by the absence of conviction of any felony or of a misdemeanor resulting from a violation of any drug and/or pharmacy related law or rule;~~

~~— (c) The candidate shall possess a professional pharmacy baccalaureate degree or a doctor of pharmacy degree (PharmD) granted by a school of pharmacy, or a college of pharmacy, or a department of pharmacy of a university accredited by the Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education (ACPE) or the Canadian Council for Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs (CCAPP);~~

~~— (d) A candidate who is a foreign pharmacy graduate, other than Canadian, in lieu of (c) above, shall provide written documentation that such candidate has:~~

~~- (1) Obtained full certification from the FPGEC; and~~

~~- (2) Passed NAPLEX;~~

~~— (e) The candidate shall be licensed and in good standing in the state from which he or she is seeking licensure transfer; and~~

~~— (f) The candidate for a reciprocal license shall complete and pass the NH MPJE examination on the current federal and state laws and rules governing the practice of pharmacy in the state of New Hampshire.~~

~~— Ph 302.04 Reciprocity Application Time Limitation. Candidates who fail to complete the MPJE examination, as required by Ph 302.03(f), within one year after the candidate's application is received at the board office shall have their application denied, but fees shall be retained by the board. If a candidate wishes to re-apply for New Hampshire licensure, a new application containing updated information shall be filed with the board.~~

~~— Ph 302.05 NH MPJE Examination Required Scores and Fees.~~

~~— (a) To successfully complete the examination required by Ph 302.03(f), the candidate shall, in the initial examination or any subsequent re-examination, obtain a score of not less than 75.~~

~~— (b) The candidate shall pay the current examination fee to, and as assessed by, NABP.~~

~~— Ph 302.06 NH MPJE Re-Examination Notice and Election.~~

~~— (a) Any candidate who has failed to attain the minimum score on the NH MPJE examination as required by Ph 302.05, shall notify the board in writing whether he or she elects to be re-examined.~~

~~— (b) Any candidate for re-examination of the NH MPJE examination shall register and pay for the re-take examination through the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy online registration website accessible at www.nabp.net.~~

~~— Ph 302.07 Reciprocity License Issuance or Denial.~~

~~— (a) If a candidate timely files an application, complete in all respects and meeting the requirements of Ph 302, and demonstrates the fulfillment of the requirements of these rules and RSA 318 and RSA 318-B, the board shall issue a license to practice pharmacy.~~

~~— (b) In the event a candidate for a reciprocity license to practice pharmacy in New Hampshire fails to meet the requirements of these rules or RSA 318 and RSA 318-B, or both, the board shall deliver to the candidate a written denial of the application, specifying in detail each requirement which the candidate failed to meet, and how the candidate is deficient.~~

~~PART Ph 303 PHARMACY PERMIT OPTION~~

~~— Ph 303.01 Licensing the Entire Store Area.~~

~~— (a) The pharmacy shall include the prescription department and all other retail sections of the store.~~

~~— (b) The entire pharmacy shall be equipped with a functional alarm system to prevent entry when the pharmacy is not open to the public, according to Ph 702.04.~~

~~— (c) The prescription department shall not be closed while the balance of the establishment remains open.~~

~~— (d) A licensed pharmacist shall be on duty at all times when the pharmacy is open to the public.~~

~~— Ph 303.02 Licensing Only the Prescription Department.~~

~~— (a) The pharmacy shall include only the prescription department where drugs, chemicals, medicines, prescriptions are stored, compounded and dispensed. This area shall not include the other retail sections of the store the principle business of which is not the practice of pharmacy.~~

~~— (b) The prescription department described in (a), above, shall be equipped with a functional alarm system to prevent entry when the pharmacy is not open to the public according to Ph 702.04.~~

~~— (c) The prescription department may be closed while the remainder of the business establishment remains open to the public. During such periods, the pharmacy shall comply with Ph 702.04.~~

~~— (d) A licensed pharmacist shall be on duty at all times when the prescription department is open to the public and during any absences by the pharmacist, the prescription department shall be secured except as is provided in Ph 704.01(b).~~

~~— (e) Whenever the prescription department is closed, a sign indicating that there is no pharmacist on duty shall be conspicuously displayed in the pharmacy area. Such sign shall be composed of 3" lettering.~~

~~— (f) Whenever the prescription department is closed, prescriptions may be left via a mail slot which falls directly into the pharmacy area.~~

~~— (g) The prescription mail slot:~~

~~(1) Shall be constructed so as to accept only a written or typed prescription or a notation of the prescription number for refills;~~

~~(2) Shall be no larger than 8" X 1" and designed so that prescriptions or notations, once deposited, cannot be retrieved by hand or by mechanical means; and~~

~~(3) Shall be constructed so as to deliver these prescriptions or notations directly into the prescription area for access by the pharmacist only so that they are not visible to the general public.~~

~~— (h) No prescription, new or refill, shall be left with or accepted by pharmacy technicians as defined in RSA 318:1, XI b or pharmacy interns as provided in RSA 318:42, IX when the prescription department is closed except as is provided in Ph 704.01(c).~~

~~— (i) No finished prescriptions shall be left outside of the pharmacy area prescription department for pick-up when the prescription department is closed.~~

~~— (j) No telephone prescriptions, new or refill shall be accepted by pharmacy technicians or pharmacy interns when the prescription department is closed except as is provided in Ph 704.01(c).~~

~~— (k) All drug order deliveries containing prescription drugs shall be delivered only when the prescription department is open and/or a licensed pharmacist is on the premises in order to secure such drug orders.~~

~~— (l) A barrier preventing access to the prescription department by the public, shall be erected pursuant to the security requirements of Ph 702.04(c).~~

~~— (m) The pharmacist in charge may designate personnel, in compliance with the provisions of Ph 702.05(b), to have keys, and a list of these individuals shall be communicated to the board of pharmacy in writing whenever changes occur.~~

~~— (n) All prescription departments licensed under this section shall be so equipped with a physical barrier from floor to ceiling capable of being locked and alarmed, separate from the rest of the store, to be utilized when the prescription department is not opened to the public.~~

~~PART Ph 304 PHARMACY PERMIT APPLICATION~~

~~Ph 304.01 Obtaining and Filing a Permit Application.~~

~~(a) Application Ph B-1 revised September 2015 for a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire may be obtained from the board or board website, and shall be filed at the board office, identified in Ph 103.03;~~

~~(b) Form Ph B-1 shall be used for:~~

- ~~(1) Applying for a permit to operate a new pharmacy within the State of New Hampshire;~~
- ~~(2) Changing the location of a currently licensed New Hampshire pharmacy;~~
- ~~(3) Changing the ownership of a currently licensed New Hampshire pharmacy; and~~
- ~~(4) Changing the pharmacist in charge of a currently licensed New Hampshire pharmacy.~~

~~Ph 304.02 Application Contents.~~

~~(a) The applicant for a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire, shall complete form Ph B-1 revised September 2015.~~

~~(b) The applicant shall also submit scale drawings of the pharmacy, detailing usage of all space.~~

~~(c) The applicant shall supplement the application with any certificates, affidavits, plans, documents, or other information sufficient to show full compliance with all of the requirements of Ph 304.~~

~~(d) The applicant shall submit a certificate from the secretary of state attesting to the documents creating the corporate person and any amendment(s) thereof to the certificate of incorporation, or authorizing it to do business in the state of New Hampshire under the corporate name.~~

~~(e) The application shall be filed with the prescribed fee of \$250.~~

~~PART Ph 305 PHARMACY PERMIT PROCEDURE~~

~~Ph 305.01 Pharmacy Permit Conference.~~

~~(a) In addition to all requirements set forth in the statutes and elsewhere in this chapter, each applicant applying for a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire shall appear before the board for an informal conference to review the responsibilities of the pharmacist in charge and permit holder.~~

~~(b) If the owner is not the pharmacist in charge, then the owner or an officer of the corporation, or the district manager, as well as the anticipated pharmacist in charge shall appear before the board.~~

~~Ph 305.02 Site Inspection for Pharmacy Permit.~~

~~(a) Following the applicant's conference, the proposed site shall be inspected by one or more board members or compliance inspectors to determine if the premises are secure and suitable, as set forth in the NH pharmacy application information according to the provisions of Ph 702, for the operation of a pharmacy and that the required professional library material, according to Ph 702.07 (c) & (d), is available.~~

~~(b) Within the 60 day period after the issuance of the temporary permit as required by Ph 305.03, an inspector or a board member or both shall inspect the pharmacy. The full operation of the pharmacy shall be examined for compliance with federal and state statutes and rules governing the practice of pharmacy to ensure public protection.~~

~~Ph 305.03 Issuance and Denial of Pharmacy Permit.~~

~~(a) Applicants shall file a completed application at least 30 days before consideration will be given for a temporary permit.~~

~~(b) Providing that, the premises are suitable, according to Ph 305.02 (a), for the operation of a pharmacy and the applicant has met all other requirements of these rules and RSA 318, the applicant shall be granted a temporary permit which shall expire in 60 days. The temporary permit shall authorize the operation of a pharmacy only in the location and only under the name specified in the permit and shall authorize the pharmacist in charge to buy, possess and dispense prescription drugs, chemicals and pharmaceuticals.~~

~~(c) After consideration of the application and the report of the primary site inspection, the board shall notify the applicant in writing of all deficiencies in the application which, in the absence of correction, shall result in the denial of the application. The applicant shall, within 20 days of the date of the notice of deficiency, deliver to the board documents evidencing the correction of those deficiencies. In the absence of a timely filing of documentation, the application shall, without further action or notice by the board, be denied effective as of the expiration of 20 days after the date of the notification of deficiency.~~

~~PART Ph 306 PHARMACY PERMITS – CHANGES IN SUPPORTING DATA~~

~~Ph 306.01 Pharmacy Ownership Transfer. A transfer of ownership shall include any of the following:~~

~~(a) The sale of the pharmacy;~~

~~(b) The addition or deletion of one or more partners in a partnership;~~

~~(c) The death of a singular owner; or~~

~~(d) In a publicly traded, multi-tiered corporation, a change in the corporate ownership of the majority or controlling interest of the lowest tier of the corporate structure doing business as a pharmacy in the State of New Hampshire.~~

~~Ph 306.02 Reporting Changes. The person to whom a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire has been issued shall, within 15 days of that person's discovery of a change in any of the data contained in the application for an original or renewal permit, report that change to the board in writing. An original new permit application, form Ph B-1 revised September 2015 shall be completed and filed in addition to the written notice when the name, location, ownership, licensed area or pharmacist in charge of the pharmacy are changed.~~

~~Ph 306.03 Change in Pharmacy Name or Location – Prohibited. No person shall operate a pharmacy under a name, or at a location, different from the name and location contained in the permit issued pursuant to Ph 304.~~

~~Ph 306.04 Renovations. Plans for any renovation at any time after an original permit is issued shall be filed with the board for review and approval before proceeding with such changes.~~

~~Ph 306.05 Special Permit Provisions for Sudden Termination of Pharmacist In-Charge (PIC). Existing pharmacy permit holders who have a sudden loss of the pharmacist in charge (PIC), shall be issued a special pharmacy permit valid for 60 days while a new PIC is identified and appears before the board according to Ph 305.01.~~

~~PART Ph 307 RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PHARMACY PERMITS~~

~~Ph 307.01 Renewal Permits Required. The person to whom a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire has been issued shall renew that permit by December 31st of each year.~~

~~Ph 307.02 Renewal Application Where Obtained and Filed. Applications for the renewal of a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire may be obtained from, and shall be filed at the board office.~~

~~Ph 307.03 Renewal Application Contents and When Filed.~~

~~(a) Applications for renewal of a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire shall consist of the prescribed form Ph B-2 revised September 2015 and the prescribed fee of \$250.~~

~~(b) Renewal applications as required pursuant to Ph 307.01 shall be submitted to the board office identified in Ph 103.03 no later than the 15th day of December of each year.~~

~~Ph 307.04 Renewal Application Deficiencies. The board shall notify the applicant in writing as to how the application for renewal is deficient. The applicant may, within 10 days after the date of the notice of deficiency, correct the deficiency or the renewal shall be denied.~~

~~Ph 307.05 Issuance or Denial of Renewal Permit.~~

~~(a) If an applicant shall timely file an application, complete in all respects, and shall demonstrate the fulfillment of all the requirements of these rules and RSA 318, the board shall issue a renewal permit.~~

~~(b) An application which continues to fail to meet the requirements of these rules and RSA 318 shall be denied.~~

~~Ph 307.06 Replacement Permit Application and Contents.~~

~~(a) The holder of a current permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire, whose permit has been lost or destroyed shall apply for a replacement permit within 15 days after the date the licensee discovers, or with reasonable diligence, should have discovered, the loss or destruction of the permit. There shall be no form prescribed for an application for a replacement permit.~~

~~(b) The request for a replacement permit shall:~~

~~(1) Be in writing;~~

~~(2) Contain the number of the current permit held by the applicant, if known;~~

~~(3) Be accompanied by the remains, if any, of the permit for which a replacement is sought;~~

~~(4) Be accompanied by the prescribed fee of \$25; and~~

~~(5) Be filed at the board office.~~

~~PART Ph 308 REVOCATION AND SUSPENSION OF A PHARMACY PERMIT~~

~~Ph 308.01 Grounds for Revocation or Suspension. The board may revoke or suspend a permit to operate a pharmacy for grounds which include but are not limited to:~~

~~(a) Misconduct as described in RSA 318:29, II; and~~

~~(b) Violations of the provisions of RSA 318:29, V.~~

~~Ph 308.02 Effect of Revocation.~~

~~(a) The revocation of a pharmacy permit shall permanently withdraw the authority to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire.~~

~~(b) A subsequent permit may be obtained only by:~~

~~(1) Complying with all of the requirements of RSA 318 and these rules regarding the original licensing of pharmacies;~~

~~(2) Paying all penalties assessed in connection with the cause for revocation; and~~

~~(3) By demonstrating that the cause for revocation does not exist at the time of the subsequent application.~~

~~Ph 308.03 Effect of Suspension.~~

~~(a) The suspension of a pharmacy permit shall temporarily withdraw the authority to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire until the time specified in the order of suspension.~~

~~(b) The authority to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire shall be recovered only by:~~

~~(1) Complying with all of the requirements specified in the order of suspension;~~

~~(2) Complying with all of the requirements of RSA 318 and these rules regarding the renewal of a pharmacy permit; and~~

~~(3) Paying all penalties assessed in connection with the cause for suspension.~~

~~Ph 308.04 Voluntary Surrender When Permitted.~~

~~(a) Any person holding a pharmacy permit may voluntarily return that permit to the board.~~

~~(b) The return of such permit shall be accompanied by the licensee's signed, written statement as to why the permit is being voluntarily returned to the board.~~

~~(c) The voluntary surrender of a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire shall serve to withdraw the authority for the licensee to operate that pharmacy in New Hampshire.~~

~~(d) Voluntary surrender of a permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire shall not be permitted if there exists, at the time the permit is presented to the board, any cause for involuntary revocation or suspension of the licensee's permit to operate a pharmacy, unless the licensee presenting the permit shall state in writing that the voluntarily surrendered permit is in lieu of proceedings for the involuntary revocation or suspension of the permit to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire.~~

~~Ph 308.05 Hearing. Except as authorized by statute or these rules, a permittee to operate a pharmacy in New Hampshire shall not be disciplined except after notice and opportunity for hearing provided by Ph 200.~~

Adopt Ph 300 as follows:

CHAPTER Ph 300 INITIAL LICENSURE, REGISTRATION, AND CERTIFICATION FOR PHARMACY
PERSONNEL AND PHARMACEUTICAL ENTITIES

PART Ph 301 PURPOSE; APPLICABILITY; NOTIFICATIONS; ISSUANCE OF LICENSES;
INCORPORATED DEFINITIONS

Ph 301.01 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to protect public health and welfare by establishing the criteria and procedures by which pharmacy personnel and pharmaceutical entities ~~may~~ ***can*** apply to the office of professional licensure and certification (OPLC) for an initial license, registration, or certification based on criteria established by the New Hampshire pharmacy board.

Ph 301.02 Applicability.

(a) This chapter shall apply to:

(1) Any individual who is or who wishes to become any of the following:

- a. A licensed pharmacist;
- b. A registered pharmacy intern;
- c. A licensed advanced pharmacy technician;
- d. A certified pharmacy technician; or
- e. A registered pharmacy technician; and

(2) Any pharmaceutical entity that is or that wishes to become licensed to conduct business under RSA 318 in New Hampshire.

(b) A pharmacy license shall not be required for any institution that procures prescription drugs for its patients only on an individual-prescription basis for specific patients from an off-premises licensed pharmacy.

Ph 301.03 Notifications; Issuance of Licenses. ~~The OPLC shall send all notifications to applicants and licensees, and all licenses issued pursuant to this chapter, in accordance with Plc 301.03.~~ ***Applicants and licensees shall be notified of all licenses issued pursuant to this chapter in accordance with Plc 301.03.***

Ph 301.04 Incorporated Definitions. All terms used in ~~these rules~~ ***this chapter*** relative to procedures, applications, inspections, and fees that are defined in Plc 100-400 or Plc 1000 shall have the meaning specified in title Plc.

PART Ph 302 NO IMPERSONATIONS OF APPLICANTS

Ph 302.01 Impersonation of Applicants Prohibited.

(a) As provided in RSA 318:20, I, no one shall impersonate any person applying for licensure under RSA 318.

(b) As provided in RSA 318:20, II, no third party shall sign an application, complete an application, call to check on the status of an application, or submit an application and documentation on behalf of any applicant.

(c) As provided in RSA 318:20, III, no third party shall complete an online renewal or a paper renewal, or make any changes or updates to an original application on behalf of an applicant.

PART Ph 303 QUALIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR INITIAL LICENSURE: PHARMACY
PERSONNEL

Ph 303.01 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as a Pharmacist; Required Examinations.

(a) To qualify to apply for an initial pharmacist license, an applicant shall meet the requirements of RSA 318:18, I, reprinted in Appendix C, subject to (b) through (j), below.

(b) For purposes of RSA 318:18, I(a), any pharmacy program that is accredited by the American Council on Pharmaceutical Education (ACPE), or by the Canadian Council for Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs (CCAPP), shall be deemed to be approved by the board.

(c) Subject to (e), below, the required national examination administered by the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP) shall be the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy Licensure Examination (NAPLEX).

~~(d) An applicant also shall pass the New Hampshire Multistate Pharmacy Jurisprudence Examination (NH MPJE) administered by the NABP.~~

~~(de)~~ The Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL) required by RSA 318:18, I(a) for graduates of a foreign school or college of pharmacy other than Canadian shall be the TOEFL internet-based test (TOEFL-iBT®).

~~(ef)~~ Passing scores for all required examinations shall be “pass”.

~~(g) Any candidate who fails to obtain a score of “pass” on the NAPLEX or NH MPJE shall notify the board in writing whether the applicant elects to be re-examined.~~

~~(fh)~~ Any candidate for re-examination shall register and pay for the re-take examination through the NABP online registration website accessible <https://nabp.pharmacy/>.

~~(gi)~~ Pursuant to RSA 318:18, II, which authorizes the OPLC to deny licensure as a pharmacist for grounds that include prior conviction of any felony, or of a misdemeanor resulting from a violation of a federal, state or local drug or pharmacy-related law, rule, or regulation, ***the applicant shall not be denied a license based solely on OPLC shall not use the following as a basis for denying a license:***

(1) Any misdemeanor conviction(s) more than 5 years prior to the application for licensure, for violation(s) of a federal, state, or local drug or pharmacy-related law, rule, or regulation; or

(2) Any felony conviction related to professional practice more than 10 years prior to the application for licensure, provided the applicant demonstrates, through explanations submitted pursuant to Ph 303.02(b)(4), that the applicant is unlikely to engage in criminal behavior if a license is issued in New Hampshire.

(h) An applicant shall be of good professional character and temperate habits pursuant to RSA 318:18, I(b)(2), as demonstrated by the applicant’s answering “no” to all background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e)(1)-(10).

Ph 303.02 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Pharmacist License Application.

(a) The following information shall be submitted ***on the “Addendum to the Universal Application for Initial Licensure” dated x/2026*** pursuant to ~~Ph 306.02(b)(1)a:~~

~~(1) Whether the applicant is or ever has been registered or licensed as any category of pharmacy personnel in New Hampshire or any other jurisdiction and, if so, an identification of the jurisdiction(s) and whether such registration or license is currently valid; and~~

~~(2) Whether the applicant has ever voluntarily surrendered any professional license in this or any other jurisdiction for any reason.~~

(b) ***Applicants shall submit, or arrange for the submission, of, t***The following documentation ~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(2)a:~~

(1) Subject to (c), below, an official final transcript sent directly from the college to the licensing bureau, or if a foreign graduate, a transcript verification as provided by the Foreign Pharmacy Graduate Examination Committee (FPGEC); ***and***

~~(2) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each voluntary surrender reported pursuant to (a)(2); and~~

~~(23) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each criminal conviction and a complete explanation of the action(s) the applicant undertook or is undertaking to ensure that the behavior(s) which resulted in the criminal charges will not be repeated if a license is issued in New Hampshire.~~

(c) If the NABP transmits a copy of the transcripts when it sends the NAPLEX scores, no additional transcript shall be required.

Ph 303.03 Qualifications for Initial Registration as a Pharmacy Intern. An applicant for licensure as a registered pharmacy intern shall:

(a) Meet one of the following criteria:

(1) Be enrolled in a college or university pharmacy program that is accredited by the ACPE or the CCAPP;

(2) Possess a pharmacy degree from a college or university pharmacy program that is accredited by the ACPE or the CCAPP; or

(3) Have educational equivalency by obtaining a Foreign Pharmacy Graduate Examination Committee (FPGEC) ~~c~~Certificate;

(b) Be of good moral character, as demonstrated by the ~~information provided by the applicant's~~ ***answering "no" to all background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e)(1)-(10) on the application and any attachments;*** and

(c) Have not been:

(1) Convicted within the prior 5 years of a misdemeanor resulting from a violation of any federal, state, or local drug- or pharmacy-related law, rule, or regulation; or

(2) Convicted of a felony related to professional practice at any time, provided that the ***applicant shall not be denied a license based*** ~~OPLC shall not deny a license based solely on a felony conviction more than 10 years prior to the application for licensure if the applicant demonstrates, through explanations submitted pursuant to Ph 303.04(b)(2), that the applicant is unlikely to engage in criminal behavior if a license is issued in New Hampshire.~~

Ph 303.04 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Pharmacy Intern Registration Application.

(a) ***The applicant shall provide t***The following information ***on the "Addendum to the Universal Application for Initial Licensure for Pharmacy Intern Registration", dated x/2026*** ~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(1)b:~~

~~(1) Whether the applicant is or ever has been registered or licensed as a pharmacy intern in New Hampshire or any other state and, if so, an identification of the state(s) and whether such registration or license is currently valid; and~~

~~(2) Whether the applicant has ever voluntarily surrendered any professional license in this or any other jurisdiction for any reason.~~

(b) ***The applicant shall submit*** ~~The following documentation shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(2)b.:~~

~~(1) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each voluntary surrender reported pursuant to (a)(2); and~~

~~(2) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each criminal conviction and a complete explanation of the action(s) the applicant undertook or is undertaking to ensure that the behavior(s) which resulted in the criminal charges will not be repeated if a license is issued in New Hampshire.~~

Ph 303.05 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as an Advanced Pharmacy Technician. An applicant for licensure as an advanced pharmacy technician shall meet the following requirements:

(a) Have worked not less than 2,000 hours as a certified pharmacy technician in good standing, supervised by one or more pharmacist(s) who are licensed and in good standing in the jurisdiction in which the work occurred;

(b) Hold national certification from a nationally-recognized certifying organization for pharmacy technicians, such as the Pharmacy Technician Certification Board (PTCB) or the National Healthcare Association (NHA);

(c) Have successfully completed 4 advanced technician assessment-based programs provided by a nationally-recognized pharmacy technician certification provider, 2 of which shall be on product verification and immunization administration; ~~and~~

(d) Have successfully passed ***an exam on scope of practice*** ~~the pharmacy jurisprudence exam for technicians (PJET)~~ administered by the NABP;

(e) Be of good moral character, as demonstrated by the ~~information provided by the applicant's~~ ***answering "no" to all background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e)(1)-(10) on the application and any attachments;*** and

(f) Have not been:

(1) Convicted within the prior 5 years of a misdemeanor resulting from a violation of any federal, state, or local drug- or pharmacy-related law, rule, or regulation; or

(2) Convicted of a felony related to professional practice at any time, provided that the ~~OPLC~~ ***applicant*** shall not ***be denied*** ~~deny~~ a license based solely on a felony conviction more than 10 years prior to the application for licensure if the applicant demonstrates, through explanations submitted pursuant to Ph 303.06(b)(2), that the applicant is unlikely to engage in criminal behavior if a license is issued in New Hampshire.

Ph 303.06 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Advanced Pharmacy Technician License Application.

(a) The ***applicant shall submit the*** following information ***on the “Addendum to the Universal Application for Initial Licensure for Advanced Pharmacy Technician”, dated x/2026***~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(1)c:~~

- (1) The name, mailing address, and telephone number of the applicant’s current employer; and
- (2) Whether the applicant has ever voluntarily surrendered any professional license in this or any other jurisdiction.

(b) The ***applicant shall submit, or cause to be submitted, the*** following documentation ~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(2)c:~~

- (1) ~~If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each voluntary surrender reported pursuant to (a)(2);~~
- (2) ~~If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each criminal conviction and a complete explanation of the action(s) the applicant undertook or is undertaking to ensure that the behavior(s) which resulted in the criminal charges will not be repeated if a license is issued in New Hampshire; and~~
- (23) Proof of working at least 2,000 hours as a certified pharmacy technician in the form a letter of attestation from one or more supervisors or equivalent documentation.

Ph 303.07 Qualifications for Initial Certification as a Pharmacy Technician. An applicant for a certified pharmacy technician shall:

(a) Hold national certification from a nationally-recognized certifying organization for pharmacy technicians, such as the PTCB or the NHA; and

(b) Not have been:

- (1) Convicted within the past 5 years of a drug or pharmacy-related misdemeanor; or
- (2) Convicted at any time of a felony related to professional practice at any time, provided that the ~~applicant-OPLC~~ shall not ***be denied*** ~~deny~~ a license based solely on a felony conviction more than 10 years prior to the application for licensure if the applicant demonstrates, through explanations submitted pursuant to Ph 303.08(b)(2), that the applicant is unlikely to engage in criminal behavior if a license is issued in New Hampshire.

Ph 303.08 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Pharmacy Technician Certification Application.

(a) The ***applicant shall submit the*** following information ***on the “Addendum to the Initial Application for Pharmacy Technician Certification,” x/2026***~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(1)d:~~

- (1) Identification of the certifying organization from which the applicant holds certification and the date of most recent certification;
- (2) The name, mailing address, and telephone number of the applicant’s current employer; and
- (3) Whether the applicant has ever voluntarily surrendered any professional license in this or any other jurisdiction.

(b) The ***applicant shall submit the*** following documentation ~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(2)d, -:~~

- ~~(1) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each voluntary surrender reported pursuant to (a)(3); and~~
- ~~(2) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each criminal conviction and a complete explanation of the action(s) the applicant undertook or is undertaking to ensure that the behavior(s) which resulted in the criminal charges will not be repeated if a license is issued in New Hampshire.~~

Ph 303.09 Qualifications for Initial Registration as a Pharmacy Technician. An applicant for a registered pharmacy technician shall:

- (a) Be at least 16 years of age;
- (b) Have a high school diploma or equivalent, or be working to achieve a high school diploma or equivalent; and
- (c) Not have been convicted of:
 - (1) A drug or pharmacy-related misdemeanor within the past 5 years; or
 - (2) A felony related to professional practice at any time, provided that ***an applicant*** ~~the OPLC~~ shall not ***be denied*** ~~deny~~ a license based solely on a felony conviction more than 10 years prior to the application for licensure if the applicant demonstrates, through explanations submitted pursuant to Ph 303.10(b)(2), that the applicant is unlikely to engage in criminal behavior if a license is issued in New Hampshire.

Ph 303.10 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Registered Pharmacy Technician License Application.

(a) The ***applicant shall submit the*** following information ***on the “Supplement to Initial Application for Pharmacy Technician Registration,” x/2026*** ~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(1)e:~~

- (1) The name, mailing address, and telephone number of the applicant’s current employer;
- (2) The name and telephone number of the applicant’s supervisor; and
- (3) Whether the applicant has ever voluntarily surrendered any professional license in this or any other jurisdiction.

(b) The ***applicant shall submit the*** following documentation ~~shall be submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02(b)(3)e:~~

- ~~(1) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each voluntary surrender reported pursuant to (a)(3); and~~
- ~~(2) If applicable, a written explanation of the date(s), jurisdiction(s), and all relevant facts and circumstances of each criminal conviction and a complete explanation of the action(s) the applicant undertook or is undertaking to ensure that the behavior(s) which resulted in the criminal charges will not be repeated if a license is issued in New Hampshire.~~

PART Ph 304 APPROVAL FOR ADMINISTRATION OF VACCINES

Ph 304.01 Qualifications for Administration of Vaccines. A pharmacist, pharmacy intern, licensed advanced pharmacy technician, or certified pharmacy technician who seeks to engage in the administration of vaccines shall meet the requirements of RSA 318:16-b, I - ~~III~~***IV***, reprinted in Appendix C.

Ph 304.02 Application.

~~—— (a) Subject to (b), below, a~~After meeting the statutory requirements, a pharmacist, pharmacy intern, licensed advanced pharmacy technician, or certified pharmacy technician who seeks to engage in the administration of vaccines shall file a completed “Application for Authorization to Administer Vaccines” revised [month] 2026 with the licensing bureau.

~~(b) An applicant who meets all qualifications except RSA 318:16-b, III(a) relative to already being licensed may submit the vaccine authorization application with the applicant’s application for licensure without paying the separate application fee for the authorization.~~

Ph 304.03 Application Processing. ***Pursuant to Plc 304***, ~~The~~ the licensing bureau shall process the application as provided in ~~Ph 306~~ for initial applications, whether submitted with an application for licensure or separately from an application for licensure.

Ph 304.04 Issuance; Duration of Authorization.

(a) ***Pursuant to Plc 304.09 (a)***, ~~The licensing bureau~~ ***authorization*** shall ***be*** issued ~~an authorization~~ to each applicant who demonstrates compliance with the requirements in RSA 318:16-b, I - ~~III~~***IV***.

(b) The authorization shall be ***conditioned on the licensee’s maintaining compliance with the requirements of RSA 318:16-b, III(a)-(d)*** ~~co~~terminous with the underlying license and may be renewed with the underlying license.

PART Ph 305 QUALIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR INITIAL LICENSURE: PHARMACEUTICAL ENTITIES

Ph 305.01 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as an In-State Pharmacy.

(a) Subject to (b) and (c), below, to qualify for initial licensure as an in-state pharmacy, the applicant shall:

- (1) Be authorized by the N.H. secretary of state to conduct business in New Hampshire;
- (2) Have the legal right to occupy a place of business in New Hampshire in which the activities proposed to be undertaken by the applicant are authorized, that has adequate space to meet the requirements of Ph 500 for all functions proposed to be undertaken, as demonstrated by an initial inspection;
- (3) Be eligible to obtain a DEA registration number if controlled substances will be dispensed or otherwise handled;
- (4) Have no responsible officials or shareholders of 5% or more of the stock who have been convicted of any local, state, or federal drug or pharmacy law; and
- (5) Have no pending indictments of any nature of any local, state, or federal drug or pharmacy law.

~~(b) If the applicant is proposing to operate as a central fill pharmacy, the applicant also shall have or expect to have common ownership or a contractual arrangement with one or more retail, non-dispensing, or institutional pharmacies, or directly with an institution, to process prescriptions on behalf of that entity.~~

~~—— (c) If the applicant is proposing to operate as a non-dispensing pharmacy, the applicant also shall be owned by, or have or expect to have a contractual arrangement with, one or more retail, central fill, or institutional pharmacies, to perform non-dispensing activities on behalf of that pharmacy.~~

~~—— (d) If the applicant is proposing to operate as a clinic pharmacy, the applicant also shall own, or have a contract to provide pharmacy services to, the clinic(s) the pharmacy will serve.~~

Ph 305.02 Information and Documentation Required for Initial In-State Pharmacy License Application.

(a) In addition to the information required by Plc 304.03, an applicant for an in-state pharmacy license shall provide the following information ***on the “Supplement to Initial In-State Pharmacy Application,”***
x/2026:

- (1) The ***proposed*** location ~~of where~~ the pharmacy is ~~proposed to be located~~, including street name and number, municipality, and county;
- (2) Whether licensing is sought for the entire area within a structure or for a pharmacy department only;
- ~~(3) For any pharmacy that will provide services to the public, the anticipated total number of hours per week and the anticipated opening and closing time each day that the pharmacy will be open and available to provide professional services, provided that the applicant shall not be required to adhere to the anticipated hours stated;~~
- (4) The name, business address, and occupation of each responsible official;
- (5) The name, daytime telephone number, and email address of the pharmacy manager for the location being licensed, and if the individual is a licensed pharmacist, the home-state pharmacist license number;
- (6) If the applicant is a partnership, the percentage of ownership held by each partner including limited partners, and if any partner is a corporation, the information required for corporations for that partner;
- (7) If the applicant or a partner is a corporation or a limited liability corporation, the following:
 - a. The corporation’s full legal name as shown on the document(s) that created the entity, and each name under which the corporation does business in New Hampshire;
 - b. The corporation’s principal place of business;
 - c. The name, address, and telephone number of the corporation’s agent of record in New Hampshire for service of process;
 - d. A list of each type or class of voting stock and the number of shares authorized and outstanding for each class;
 - e. The name, address, corporate title, occupation, and percentage of stock held for each corporate officer and corporate director;
 - f. The name, address, occupation, and percentage of stock held for each holder of 5% or more of each class of voting stock and, if a listed shareholder is a corporation or a partnership, the information required by (5), above, or this subparagraph, as applicable; ***and***

g. The full legal name and state or country of formation of each parent, sister, and subsidiary company;

~~(8) The name and title of each individual who has or will have security access to the pharmacy, if known, or the title of each official or employee who will have security access to the pharmacy;~~

(9) Answers to the questions in Plc 304.034(e) for each individual and entity identified in (4) through (7), above;

~~(10) If the application is for a retail pharmacy, central fill pharmacy, or non-dispensing pharmacy:~~

~~a. The name and New Hampshire license number of ***all pharmacy personnel*** each pharmacist to be employed at the pharmacy, if known, and answers to the questions in Plc 304.034(e) for each individual; or~~

~~(11) b. The number of ***pharmacy personnel*** pharmacists anticipated to be employed, ***if the name and New Hampshire license number are not known***; and~~

~~(12) If the ***applicant intends to contract with a consulting pharmacist*** application is for an institutional pharmacy that will not have an on-site pharmacist:~~

~~a. The name and New Hampshire license number of the consulting pharmacist, if known, and answers to the questions in Plc 304.034(e) for such individual; or~~

~~b. The date by which a contract with a consulting pharmacist is expected to be final.~~

(12) If the application is for a clinic pharmacy: ***The type of pharmacy that the applicant intends to operate (central fill pharmacy, clinic pharmacy, institutional pharmacy, non-dispensing pharmacy, retail pharmacy).***

a. The type of clinic in which the pharmacy will operate, including its primary function such as outpatient care, specialty services, urgent care, or federally qualified health center;

b. The type of pharmacy services expected to be provided at the clinic;

c. The name and contact information of the clinic's responsible official or administrator;

d. The relationship between the clinic and the applicant, including whether the applicant owns, leases to or from, or otherwise contracts with the clinic for space or services; and

e. The name and New Hampshire license number of each practitioner to be employed at, or otherwise affiliated with, the clinic, and answers to the questions in Plc 304.034(e) for each individual.

(b) In addition to the documentation required by Plc 304.04, an applicant for any in-state pharmacy license shall provide a drawing to scale of the pharmacy that identifies:

(1) For all pharmacies, the dimensions and specific use(s) of each area of the pharmacy, including without limitation the portion devoted to the preparation of prescriptions if applicable; and

(2) ~~For other than non-dispensing pharmacies, if~~ the pharmacy does not occupy the entire interior space of the building in which it is located, the type of physical barrier(s) that will separate the pharmacy from the areas not occupied by the pharmacy when the pharmacy is not open to provide pharmacy services.

Ph 305.03 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as a Non-Resident ~~or~~ Mail-Order Pharmacy. To qualify for licensure as a non-resident ~~or~~ mail order pharmacy, the applicant shall maintain a license in good standing from the regulatory authority in the jurisdiction in which the applicant is located, as required by RSA 318:37, II(b)(1).

Ph 305.04 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Non-Resident ~~or~~ Mail-Order Pharmacy License Application.

(a) In addition to the information required by Plc 304.03, an applicant for licensure as a non-resident ~~or~~ mail-order pharmacy shall provide the following ***on the “Supplement to Non-Resident Pharmacy Application,” x/2026;***

- (1) The pharmacy’s name, ~~physical address, mailing address if different,~~ telephone number, and ~~website~~ ***internet*** address if any, together with the internet address the pharmacy will use when serving NH residents;
- (2) The name, address, and title of each responsible official;
- (3) If a corporation, a certificate of incorporation from the state in which incorporated; and
- (4) The name, daytime telephone number, and email address of the pharmacy manager for the location listed in (1), above, and if the individual is a licensed pharmacist, the home-state pharmacist license number.

(b) In addition to the documentation required by Plc 304.04, an applicant for ***for licensure as*** a non-resident ~~or~~ mail-order pharmacy license shall provide the following:

- (1) A copy of the pharmacy’s home state permit;
- (2) Either ~~of the following~~:
 - a. A copy of current NABP digital pharmacy accreditation; or
 - b. All of the following:
 - i. At least 2 different photographs of the actual existing exterior, including the pharmacy signage, of the building in which the pharmacy will be or is currently located;
 - ii. At least 2 different photographs of the prescription department as viewed by an approaching patron;
 - iii. At least 4 different photographs of the prescription department as viewed from the interior, showing the prescription compounding area, refrigerator, water facilities, and pharmaceutical inventory storage area; and
 - iv. Scaled drawings and square footage of the pharmacy and drug storage area;
- (3) A copy of the applicant’s current DEA registration certificate if the pharmacy will be shipping controlled drugs;
- (4) A copy of the most recent inspection report of the facility, created in the last 18 months, from one of the following:
 - a. The board of pharmacy in the pharmacy’s home state;
 - b. The NABP; or

- c. A third party entity authorized by a regulatory agency to conduct pharmacy compliance inspections;
- (5) A list of all the corporate officers, owners, and others having control over the applicant, by full name and title, and an organization chart that shows the relationship of the persons named to the applicant's operations; and
- (6) A copy of the certificate of the alarm system that is in place, or other proof the facility is alarmed.

Ph 305.05 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as a Limited Retail Drug Distributor.

(a) To qualify for licensure as a limited retail drug distributor, the applicant shall, as required by RSA 318:51-b, II:

- (1) Be of good moral character or, for an applicant that is a legal entity, have managing officers who are of good moral character; ***as demonstrated by the applicant's answering "no" to the background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e)(1)-(10);***
- (2) Have sufficient space and security equipment ***as specified in Ph 305.06(b)(1)e*** to properly carry on the business described in the application; and
- (3) If ***the applicant intends to operate as*** other than a ~~medical gas/legend device distributor of legend devices or medical gases~~, have a written contract with a pharmacist licensed in NH to serve as a consultant on all matters relating to the storage and dispensing of prescription drugs.

(b) As provided in RSA 318:51-b, III, no license shall be granted to:

- (1) Any person who has, within 5 years of the application date, been convicted of a violation of any law of the United States, or of any state, relating to drugs, as defined in RSA 318 or RSA 318-B; or
- (2) Any person who is a drug-dependent person.

(c) If the applicant owns and operates more than one location, the applicant shall apply for a separate license for each location.

Ph 305.06 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Limited Retail Drug Distributor License Application.

(a) In addition to the information required by Plc 304.03, an applicant for a limited retail drug distributor license shall provide the following information ***on the "Supplement to Initial Application for Limited Retail Drug Distributor," x/2026:***

- (1) Whether the applicant proposes to operate as a drug use treatment facility or ***as a distributor*** ~~medical gas/ of legend devices or medical gas distributor;~~
- (2) If the applicant proposes to ~~sell~~ ***distribute*** medical gases/ ***or*** legend devices directly to consumers in New Hampshire, the following:
 - a. The location of the facility from which distribution occurs, by street address, municipality, state, and zip code;
 - b. If the facility is located ~~in a jurisdiction other than~~ ***outside of*** New Hampshire, whether the location is licensed by the board of pharmacy or another licensing agency in that jurisdiction;

- c. If the facility is not licensed in the jurisdiction in which it is located, an explanation of why no license has been obtained including a citation to applicable law if no license is required; and
- d. Whether the applicant intends to ship oxygen or other medical gases, diabetic testing supplies, or other legend devices and if “other”, what will be shipped;

(3) If the applicant proposes to hold, store, or dispense controlled substances as a drug use treatment facility, the following:

- a. A ~~brief~~ description of the security system ***that demonstrates that the security system will prevent unauthorized access, theft, or diversion of stored drugs and devices***, including whether it is activated by sound, motion, or a combination of sound and motion, and where the signal is received;
- b. A list of all persons with access to the controlled substances; ~~and~~
- c. The name and license number of the NH-licensed pharmacist with whom the applicant has contracted to serve as a consultant on all matters relating to the storage and dispensing of prescription drugs-

(b) In addition to the documentation required by Plc 304.04, an applicant for a limited retail drug distributor license shall provide the following:

(1) If the applicant is a distributor of ~~medical gases/legend devices~~ ***or medical gases***, the following:

- a. A drawing of the facility to scale and with square footage shown;
- b. If the facility is not in New Hampshire but is licensed by the board of pharmacy or another agency in the jurisdiction where it is located, a copy of the license;
- c. A copy of the facility’s most recent inspection report completed by the state licensing board or agency where the facility is domiciled, if it is located outside New Hampshire;
- d. If the facility is not in New Hampshire and is not licensed by a regulatory agency in the jurisdiction where it is located, the documentation required by Ph 305.02(b) for in-state pharmacies; ***and***
- e. Any certificates, affidavits, plans, documents, or other information sufficient to show full compliance with all applicable requirements of Ph 500 ***and that***

1. The applicant has adequate space to properly store drugs and devices on shelves without the shelves becoming cluttered;

2. The facility premises have space for staff to navigate between shelves of stored drugs and devices;

3. The facility has climate control to ensure that drugs and devices are stored according to the manufacturer’s instructions for temperature and humidity;

4. The facility is sanitary and free of pests;

5. The facility has security systems to prevent unauthorized access, theft, or diversion of stored drugs and devices; and

(2) If the applicant is a drug use treatment facility, the following:

- a. A copy of the facility's current "NH DHHS Certified Drug Treatment Provider" certificate;
- b. A copy of the facility's current DEA registration; and
- c. Affidavits, plans, documents, or other information sufficient to show full compliance with all of the requirements for operation of a drug use treatment facility specified in He-A 304.

Ph 305.07 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as a Pharmaceutical Provider.

(a) To qualify for initial licensure as a pharmaceutical provider, the applicant shall:

(1) As required by RSA 318:51-a, II:

- a. Be of good moral character or, if a legal entity, have managing officers who are of good moral character, ***as demonstrated by the applicant's answering "no" to the background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e)(1)-(10)***; and
- b. Have sufficient space and security equipment as to properly carry on the business described in the application, namely that the applicant has sufficient space, security equipment, and operational procedures to ensure compliance with the federal Drug Supply Chain Security Act (DSCSA) standards for the storage, handling, and distribution of prescription drugs, including the use of electronic systems to capture, store, and maintain transaction information, transaction history, and transaction statements as required under DSCSA; and

(2) As provided in RSA 318:51-a, III, no license shall be granted to:

- a. Any person who has, within 5 years of the application date, been convicted of a violation of any law of the United States, or of any state, relating to drugs, as defined in RSA 318 or RSA 318-B; or
- b. To any drug-dependent person.

(b) No license shall be granted to any applicant that fails to demonstrate compliance with DSCSA requirements, including but not limited to the ability to verify and validate the licensure of trading partners and ensure the integrity of the drug supply chain.

Ph 305.08 Information and Documentation Required for ***Application*** for Initial Pharmaceutical Providers License-~~Application~~.

(a) In addition to the information required by Plc 304.03, an applicant for a pharmaceutical provider license shall provide the following information ***on the "Supplement to Initial Application for Pharmaceutical Providers," x/2026***:

- (1) Whether the applicant is a manufacturer, wholesaler, repackager, distributor, reverse distributor, virtual manufacturer, virtual wholesale distributor, jobber or broker including sales or marketing offices, or a third-party logistics provider that physically stores any of the items listed in (4), below, in its own facilities prior to shipping;
- (2) The physical location of the facility where the pharmaceutical-related activities occur, or if a broker only, the business mailing address;

(3) The type of pharmaceutical entity the applicant distributes to or will distribute to in New Hampshire, such as retail pharmacies, hospital pharmacies, physicians, dentists, veterinarians, or other pharmaceutical providers, identified in the application;

(4) Whether the applicant will be selling, shipping, or otherwise distributing any of the following at wholesale:

- a. Controlled substances;
- b. Human prescription drugs;
- c. Veterinary prescription drugs;
- d. Legend devices;
- e. Medical gases; or
- f. Some other type of product(s), identified in the application;

(5) If the applicant will be handling controlled drugs, the applicant's DEA registration number;

(6) If the applicant is a manufacturer, whether the company is currently licensed by the US FDA;
~~and~~

(7) If located in another jurisdiction but intending to sell or otherwise distribute in New Hampshire, the following:

- a. The number of the home state controlled substance license, if applicable; and
- b. Whether the applicant is licensed by the board of pharmacy or any other licensing authority in the jurisdiction where related activities occur, and if not, both:
 - i. An explanation of why no license is required; and
 - ii. The information required by Ph 305.02(a) for in-state pharmacies, as applicable,

(8) An attestation that the applicant has sufficient space, security equipment, and operational procedures to comply with DCSA.

(b) In addition to the documentation required by Plc 304.04, an applicant for a pharmaceutical provider license shall provide the following:

(1) A copy of the applicant's current DEA registration certificate, if the applicant will be handling controlled drugs;

(2) If the applicant is licensed in its home state, a copy of the applicant's current license;

(3) If the applicant is not licensed in its home state, the information required by Ph 305.02(~~ba~~) for in-state pharmacies;

(4) Documentation showing compliance with the transactional requirements of DSCSA, including:

- a. Systems for maintaining transaction information, transaction history, and transaction statements data; and
- b. Procedures for investigation and verification of suspect products; and

(5) Documentation showing compliance with the operational requirements of DSCSA, such as a copy of the applicant's policies and procedures for ensuring the security and integrity of the drug supply chain, including measures to prevent counterfeit or adulterated drugs.

Ph 305.09 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as an Outsourcing Facility. To qualify for initial licensure as an outsourcing facility, the applicant shall:

(a) As required by RSA 318:51-c, II:

(1) Be of good moral character, ***as demonstrated by the applicant's answering "no" to all background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e)(1)-(10)*** or, if a legal entity, have managing officers who are of good moral character; and

(2) Have sufficient land, buildings, and security equipment as ***specified in Ph 305.10(b)(6)*** to properly carry on the business described in the application; and

(b) As provided in RSA 318:51-c, III, no license shall be granted to:

(1) Any person who has, within 5 years of the application date, been convicted of a violation of any law of the United States, or of any state, relating to drugs, as defined in RSA 318 or RSA 318-B; or

(2) Any person who is a drug-dependent person.

Ph 305.10 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Outsourcing Facility License Application.

(a) In addition to the information required by Plc 304.03, an applicant for an outsourcing facility license shall provide the following information ***on the "Supplement to Initial Application for Outsourcing Facility," x/2026:***

(1) Whether the applicant does or will ship or otherwise handle controlled drugs;

(2) If the applicant is located in New Hampshire, the information required for licensing of in-state facilities listed in Ph 305.02(a); and

(3) If the applicant is not located in New Hampshire, whether the applicant is licensed by the applicant's home state, and if not, the following:

a. An explanation of why no license is required, including a citation to applicable law; and

b. The information required for licensing of in-state facilities listed in Ph 305.02(a).

(b) In addition to the documentation required by Plc 304.04, an applicant for an outsourcing facility license shall provide the following:

(1) If shipping controlled drugs, a copy of the facility's current DEA registration;

(2) If licensed by the applicant's home state, both:

a. A copy of the current license; and

b. A copy of the most recent inspection report from the applicant's home state;

(3) If applicable, a copy of:

a. The most recent FDA inspection report;

- b. FDA Form 483, if one was issued; and
- c. If an FDA Form 483 was issued, the applicant's response to Form 483;
- (4) If located in New Hampshire or if not licensed by the home state, the documentation required by Ph 305.02(b) for in-state applicants; and
- (6) Any certificates, affidavits, plans, documents, or other information sufficient to show full compliance with all requirements for licensure; ~~and~~

a. The applicant has adequate space to properly store drugs and devices on shelves without the shelves becoming cluttered;

b. The facility premises have space for staff to navigate between shelves of stored drugs and devices;

c. The facility has climate control to ensure that drugs and devices are stored according to the manufacturer's instructions for temperature and humidity;

d. The facility is sanitary and free of pests;

e. The facility has security systems to prevent unauthorized access, theft, or diversion of stored drugs and devices;

Ph 305.11 Qualifications for Initial Licensure as a Research Organization.

- (a) To qualify for licensure as a research organization, the applicant shall, as required by RSA 318:51-f, II:
 - (1) ***Be of good moral character, as demonstrated by the applicant's answering "no" to all background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e)(1)-(10) or, if a legal entity, have managing officers who are of good moral character; and***
 - (2) Have sufficient space and security equipment to carry on the research operations described in the application in accordance with applicable state and federal laws and standards for the type of research being done.
- (b) As provided in RSA 318:51-f, V, no license shall be granted to any research organization if any of its managing officers or researchers:
 - (1) Have, within 5 years of application, been convicted of a violation of any law of the United States, or of any state, relating to drugs, as defined in RSA 318 or RSA 318-B; or
 - (2) Is a drug-dependent person.

Ph 305.12 Information and Documentation Required for Initial Research Organization License Application.

- (a) In addition to the information required by Plc 304.03, an applicant for a research organization license shall provide the following information ***on the "Supplement to Initial Application for Research Organization," x/2026:***

- (1) The specific drug(s) or class(es) of drugs that will be investigated;
- (2) The type of research to be done, such as:
 - a. Fundamental research;

- b. Industrial research; or
- c. Experimental development relating to:
 - 1. Drug products, disease, and drug diagnostics;
 - 2. Drug manufacturing technologies; or
 - 3. Any combination of 1. and 2., above; ~~and~~
- (3) The information required by Ph 305.02(a) for in-state pharmacies;
- (4) An affirmation that the applicant has sufficient space as required by Ph 305.11(a)(2);***
- (5) An affirmation that no managing officer or researcher has been convicted within 5 years of drug-related violations under RSA 318, RSA 318-B, or federal law; and***
- (6) An affirmation that no managing officer or researcher is drug-dependent.***

(b) In addition to the documentation required by Plc 304.04, an applicant for a research organization license shall provide the ~~following~~:

- ~~(1) The documentation required by Ph 305.02(b) for an in-state pharmacy.~~

PART Ph 306 PROCESSING OF INITIAL APPLICATIONS

Ph 306.01 Timing of Application Filing.

- (a) An applicant for licensure as a pharmacist, pharmacy intern, or advanced pharmacy technician shall submit a complete application as specified in Ph 306.02 prior to undertaking any work for which licensure is required, provided that no applicant in these personnel categories shall undertake any work for which licensure is required prior to being licensed under RSA 318 and Ph 300.
- (b) An applicant for certification as a pharmacy technician shall apply for certification within 15 days ~~after~~ ***of*** the start date of employment as a certified pharmacy technician.
- (c) An applicant for registration as a pharmacy technician shall apply for registration within 15 days ***of*** the start date of employment as a pharmacy technician.
- (d) An applicant for licensure in New Hampshire in any pharmaceutical entity category shall submit all items required by the applicable sections of Ph 305 prior to undertaking any work for which ~~NH~~ licensure is required, provided that no applicant shall undertake any work in New Hampshire for which ~~NH~~ licensure is required prior to being licensed under RSA 318 and Ph 300.

Ph 306.02 Applying for Initial Licensure: Pharmacy Personnel.

- (a) Any individual who meets the applicable qualifications in Ph 303 and wishes to become licensed in a pharmacy personnel category in New Hampshire shall apply by complying with Plc 304.01, in accordance with the timing requirements in Ph 306.01, subject to (b) through ~~(cd)~~, below.
- (b) ~~On or with the profession-specific supplement required by Plc 304.01(a)(3), the applicant shall provide:~~

- ~~(1) The additional information required by:~~
 - ~~a. For pharmacists, Ph 303.02(a);~~

- ~~b. For registered pharmacy interns, Ph 303.04(a);~~
- ~~c. For licensed advanced pharmacy technicians, Ph 303.06(a);~~
- ~~d. For certified pharmacy technicians, Ph 303.08(a); and~~
- ~~e. For registered pharmacy technicians, Ph 303.10(a); and~~

~~(2) The additional documentation required by:~~

- ~~a. For pharmacists, Ph 303.02(b);~~
- ~~b. For registered pharmacy interns, Ph 303.04(b);~~
- ~~c. For licensed advanced pharmacy technicians, Ph 303.06(b);~~
- ~~d. For certified pharmacy technicians, Ph 303.08(b); or~~
- ~~e. For registered pharmacy technicians, Ph 303.10(b).~~

~~——(e) No criminal background check shall be required.~~

(cd) The fee shall be the applicable application processing and licensing fee specified in Plc 1002.38.

Ph 306.03 Applying for Initial Licensure: Pharmaceutical Entities.

(a) Any entity that meets the applicable qualifications in Ph 305 and wishes to become licensed or registered in New Hampshire shall apply by complying with Plc 304.01, in accordance with the timing requirements in Ph 306.01 and subject to (b) ~~and (e)~~, below.

(b) ~~On or with the profession specific supplement required by Plc 304.01(a)(3), the applicant shall provide:~~

~~(1) The additional information required by:~~

- ~~a. For an in-state pharmacy, Ph 305.02(a);~~
- ~~b. For a non-resident/mail-order pharmacy, Ph 305.04(a);~~
- ~~c. For limited retail drug distributors, Ph 305.06(a);~~
- ~~d. For pharmaceutical providers, Ph 305.08(a);~~
- ~~e. For outsourcing facilities, Ph 305.10(a); or~~
- ~~f. For research organizations, Ph 305.12(a); and~~

~~(2) The additional documentation required by:~~

- ~~a. For an in-state pharmacy, Ph 305.02(b);~~
- ~~b. For a non-resident/mail-order pharmacy, Ph 305.04(b);~~
- ~~c. For a limited retail drug distributor, Ph 305.06(b);~~
- ~~d. For a pharmaceutical provider, Ph 305.08(b);~~
- ~~e. For an outsourcing facility, Ph 305.10(b); or~~

~~f. For a research organization, Ph 305.12(b).~~

~~—(e) The fee shall be the applicable application processing and licensing fee specified in Plc 1002.38 and the inspection fee specified in Plc 1001.18, if applicable.~~

Ph 306.04 Processing of Applications for Initial Licensure of Pharmacy Personnel; Decisions.

(a) ~~Within 30 days of receipt of an application~~ ***Applications*** submitted pursuant to Ph 306.02 or Ph 306.03, the licensing bureau shall process the application ***shall be processed and reviewed in accordance with as provided in Plc 304.06 and Plc 304.08.***

(b) The application shall be subject to the abandonment provisions of Plc 304.06(h) and the withdrawal provisions of Plc 304.07.

~~—(e) After determining that an application is complete, the licensing bureau shall review the application and notify the applicant of its decision in accordance with Plc 304.08 and Plc 304.09.~~

(d) ~~The licensing bureau shall issue a license to any applicant who~~ ***Pursuant to Plc 304.09, licenses shall be granted to applicants who:***

- (1) Meets the applicable qualifications identified in Ph 303 or Ph 304.01, as applicable;
- (2) ~~Has~~ ***Have*** demonstrated good character based on the answers the background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e); and
- (3) ~~Has~~ ***Have*** submitted an application that meets all requirements of Ph 306.02.

Ph 306.05 Processing of Applications for Initial Licensure of Pharmaceutical Entities; Decisions.

(a) ~~Within 30 days of receipt of an application~~ ***Applications*** submitted pursuant to Ph 306.03, the licensing bureau shall ***be processed*** the application as provided in Plc 304.06 ***and Plc 304.08.***

(b) The application shall be subject to the abandonment provisions of Plc 304.06(h) and the withdrawal provisions of Plc 304.07.

(c) ***Pursuant to Plc 304.08(a)(1), a***After determining that an application for an in-state pharmaceutical entity is complete, the licensing bureau shall refer the application for a site inspection to be conducted, to determine whether the premises are secure and suitable for the activities to be conducted as described in the application and required by applicable provisions of Ph 500.

(d) ***Pursuant to Plc 304.08 and Plc 304.09, u***Upon being notified that the site inspection has been completed satisfactorily, or after determining that an application for another type of pharmaceutical entity is complete, the licensing bureau shall review the application and notify the applicant of its decision ~~in accordance with Plc 304.08 and Plc 304.09.~~

(e) ~~For any in-state pharmacy, the licensing bureau shall issue a~~ ***Applicants for an in-state pharmacy*** license having a deferred “go-live” ***shall*** ~~date to any applicant who:~~

- (1) Meets the applicable qualifications identified in Ph 305;
- (2) ~~Has~~ ***Have*** satisfactorily completed an initial inspection;
- (3) ~~Has~~ ***Have*** demonstrated good character based on the answers the background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e); and
- (4) ~~Has~~ ***Have*** submitted an application that meets all applicable requirements of Ph 306.03.

(f) Within 60 days of the issuance of the license having a deferred “go-live” date, the pharmacy shall ~~be~~ ***further*** inspected for full compliance with all aspects of the operations to be conducted, ~~provided that if the inspection is satisfactory, the licensing bureau shall issue a license that is active.~~

(g) For all other pharmaceutical entities, the licensing bureau shall issue a license to any applicant who:

- (1) Meets the applicable qualifications identified in Ph 305;
- (2) Has demonstrated good character based on the answers the background and character questions in Plc 304.03(e); and
- (3) Has submitted an application that meets all applicable requirements of Ph 306.03.

Ph 306.06 Initial Licensure: Issuance and Duration.

- (a) ~~The OPLC shall issue~~ Initial licenses ***shall be issued*** in accordance with Plc 304.11.
- (b) Initial licenses shall be valid as provided in Plc 304.12.

Ph 306.07 Challenging a Denial of Initial Licensure; Challenging License Conditions. An applicant who wishes to challenge the denial of an application for initial licensure or who wishes to challenge conditions included in the license shall do so as provided in Plc 304.10.

APPENDIX A: STATE STATUTES IMPLEMENTED

Rule	State Statutes Implemented
Ph 301	RSA 318:2; RSA 318:5-a, IIRSA 541-A:16, I(a)
Ph 302	RSA 318:20
Ph 303.01, Ph 303.02	RSA 318:5-a, II; RSA 318:18
Ph 303.03, Ph 303.04	RSA 318:15-b
Ph 303.05, Ph 303.06	RSA 318:15-c
Ph 303.07 - Ph 303.10	RSA 318:15-a
Ph 304	RSA 318:16-b
Ph 305.01, Ph 305.02	RSA 318:37, I; RSA 318:40
Ph 305.03, Ph 305.04	RSA 318:37, II
Ph 305.05, Ph 305.06	RSA 318:51-b
Ph 305.07, Ph 305.08	RSA 318:51-a; RSA 318:51-g
Ph 305.09, Ph 305.10	RSA 318:51-c
Ph 305.11, Ph 305.12	RSA 318:51-f
Ph 306	RSA 541-A:16, I(a); RSA 541-A:29

APPENDIX B: DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

[table]

APPENDIX C: STATUTORY PROVISIONS

318:16-b Pharmacist Administration of Vaccines. –

I. A pharmacist, pharmacy intern, licensed advanced pharmacy technician, or certified pharmacy technician, under the supervision of an on-site immunizing pharmacist may administer influenza and a COVID-19 vaccine, if available, to the general public.

II. A pharmacist, pharmacy intern, or licensed advanced pharmacy technician, under the supervision of an on-site immunizing pharmacist may administer vaccines licensed by the United States Food and Drug Administration that are recommended by the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, or successor organization, to individuals 18 years of age or older as ordered by an immunizing pharmacist.

III. The pharmacist, pharmacy intern, licensed advanced pharmacy technician, or certified pharmacy technician who administers the vaccine shall:

(a) Hold a current license to practice as a pharmacist, be registered as a pharmacy intern under RSA 318:15-b in New Hampshire, or be licensed as a licensed advanced pharmacy technician under RSA 318:15-c, or be a certified pharmacy technician and registered with the board pursuant to RSA 318:15-a.

(b) Possess at least \$1,000,000 of professional liability insurance coverage.

(c) In order to administer vaccines, have completed training specific to administration of the respective vaccines that includes programs approved by the Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education (ACPE) or curriculum-based programs from an ACPE-accredited college of pharmacy or state or local health department programs or programs recognized by the board. This training shall include hands-on injection technique and the recognition and treatment of emergency reactions to vaccinations.

(d) Have a current certificate in basic cardiopulmonary resuscitation.

(e) Provide to the board evidence of compliance with subparagraphs (a)-(d).

(f) Provide notice to the primary care provider, when designated by the patient, of the administration of any vaccine.

(g) Record the vaccination in the state vaccine registry in accordance with RSA 141-C:20-f and/or when required by state and federal law and maintain a record of the vaccination as required by state and federal law.

(h) Submit reports of any adverse reactions following vaccination to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS).

(i) Review the vaccine registry or other vaccination records before administering the vaccination.

Source. 2008, 283:1. 2011, 213:1, eff. Aug. 26, 2011. 2017, 51:1, eff. July 11, 2017. 2020, 39:58, eff. July 29, 2020. 2021, 192:1, eff. Nov. 8, 2021. 2022, 274:1, eff. Sept. 22, 2022. 2023, 53:1, eff. June 1, 2023. 2024, 354:1, eff. Oct. 1, 2024.

RSA 318:18 Pharmacists. –

I. (a) An applicant for examination and licensure as a pharmacist shall have graduated with the basic, professional pharmacy baccalaureate degree or pharmacy doctor degree from a school of pharmacy, college of pharmacy, or pharmacy department of a university approved by the board including programs accredited by the American Council on Pharmaceutical Education or the Canadian Council for Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs or, if a graduate of a foreign school or college of pharmacy other than Canadian, the applicant shall be fully certified by the Foreign Pharmacy Graduate Equivalency Committee (FPGEC) which shall include passing the Foreign Pharmacy Graduate Equivalency Examination (FPGEE) and Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), with scores approved by the board of pharmacy as set forth in the rules.

(b) In addition to the above, all applicants for examination and licensure as a pharmacist shall:

(1) Not be less than 18 years of age;

(2) Be of good professional character and temperate habits; and

(3) File proof satisfactory to the office of professional licensure and certification, substantiated by proper affidavits, of a minimum of one year (1,500 hours) internship activity in a community or institutional pharmacy in the United States or Canada or an equivalent program which has been approved by the board of

pharmacy; and shall pass the national examination administered by the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP) to establish his or her fitness to practice the profession of pharmacy. The internship required in this section shall be service and experience in a community or institutional pharmacy under the supervision of a licensed pharmacist and shall be predominantly related to the selling of drugs and medical supplies; interpreting, compounding, preparing and dispensing of prescriptions; preparing of pharmaceutical products; keeping records and making reports required under federal and state statutes; and otherwise practicing pharmacy under the immediate supervision and direction of a licensed pharmacist.

II. The office of professional licensure and certification may deny licensure as a pharmacist for grounds which include, but which shall not be limited to, prior conviction of a felony; or of a misdemeanor resulting from a violation of a federal, state or local drug or pharmacy-related law, rule, or regulation.

Source. 1921, 122:11. 1925, 84:2. PL 210:18. RL 256:18. 1949, 280:3. RSA 318:18. 1969, 276:1. 1973, 72:68. 1979, 155:16. 1981, 484:7, 20. 1985, 324:5. 1988, 106:2. 1997, 149:4. 2001, 282:4. 2010, 259:3, eff. July 6, 2010. 2023, 79:309, 310, eff. Sept. 1, 2023.